RECEIVED

Mar 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Michael S. Holt, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001000

Glenn C. Odom.....Appellant,

-v-

John Campolong and A.C. McLeod.....Defendants,

Of whom John Campolong is the.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP
John E. Parker, Jr.
John E. Parker
Post Office Box 487
Hampton, South Carolina 29924
Phone: (803) 903-1781
Fax: (803) 903-1793
jayparker@parkerlawgroupsc.com
jparker@parkerlawgroupsc.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that there was not clear and convincing evidence of actual malice.
- II. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that the statements were protected by an absolute legislative privilege.
- III. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding Appellant's civil conspiracy claim was barred by the statute of limitations.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 23, 2018, Appellant Glenn C. Odom filed this action in the Chesterfield County Court of Common Pleas alleging causes of action for defamation and civil conspiracy against Respondent John Campolong and Defendant A.C. McLeod. Of primary relevance to this Appeal, the Complaint alleges that Campolong, who was at the time Mayor of the Town of McBee, published statements to others accusing Odom of misappropriating and illegally using an \$850,000.00 grant from state tobacco settlement funds. (R. pp. 28-30). The Complaint further alleges that the statements were made with actual malice, that they accused Odom of a crime, that Odom's reputation was damaged as a result of the publications, and that he suffered emotional distress. (*Id.*). Further, the Complaint states that the defamatory statements were made in furtherance of a civil conspiracy between Campolong and McLeod entered for the purpose of harming Odom, a political rival. (*Id.*).

On April 22, 2021, Campolong filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 106-07). The Motion set forth that Odom could not meet the burden of proof on summary judgment for demonstrating the statements were made with actual malice,

that the statements were privileged, and that the civil conspiracy claim was barred by the statute of limitations. (*Id.*). On July 26, 2022, Campolong filed a Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 108-29). In his Memorandum, Campolong argued that (1) Odom was a public official or public figure, (2) that Odom had not produced clear and convincing evidence of actual malice because he and two witnesses in this action struggled to articulate in their depositions what proof they had that Campolong was aware of the falsity of his statements, (3) that the statements were absolutely privileged because they concerned a matter related to legislative duties, and (4) that Odom's civil conspiracy claim was barred by the statute of limitations because Odom was aware of evidence of an agreement between Campolong and McLeod, in the form of a 2012 letter, more than three years prior to the filing of this action. (R. pp. 113-15, 123-29).

Odom filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Campolong's Motion for Summary Judgment on August 16, 2022. Odom argued that (1) Campolong had published statements from late 2016 through 2017 to at least three witnesses¹ accusing him of illegally transferring the \$850,000 grant, of being a crook, and of stealing money, (2) that there was clear and convincing evidence that Campolong knew that the statements were false, purposefully avoided information that would have demonstrated their falsity, or made them with reckless disregard of their falsity, (3) that the statements were not absolutely privileged because they were made outside of an official Town Council session or meeting, were made to individuals who were

¹ These witnesses include Town Council members Beulah Bolton and Marion Stephens III, as well as Bolton's sister who was not a Town Council member or public official.

not Town Council members, and did not serve a legislative function, and (4) that the civil conspiracy claim was not barred by the statute of limitations because it involved ongoing overt acts of defamation that continued up to and well after this action was filed. (R. pp. 291-319).

A hearing on Campolong's Motion was held by the Circuit Court on August 17, 2022. (R. pp. 40-64). At the hearing, the Circuit Court granted the parties leave to file supplemental memoranda offering further arguments in support of their respective positions. (R. p. 2). Campolong filed a Reply Memorandum on August 25, 2022, (1) requesting that the Circuit Court grant summary judgment on any libel claims that Odom may have had that were abandoned by counsel for Odom at the August 17 hearing and (2) arguing that Campolong's statements were protected by the absolute privilege because they concerned issues encompassed in ongoing litigation that had been brought by the Town of McBee against Alligator Rural Water & Sewer Co., of which Odom was general manager, and were made between Town Council members meeting in their official capacities. (R. pp. 1010-18). Odom filed a Sur-Reply Memorandum later that same day, arguing (1) that Campolong's statements were made outside of legislative proceedings and did not serve a legislative function, and thus were not protected by the absolute privilege and (2) that state law did not prohibit the Circuit Court from extending the continuous accrual theory to the civil conspiracy context. (R. pp. 1019-24).

The Circuit Court granted Campolong's Motion for Summary Judgment in a February 9, 2023 Order. The Order finds that (1) Odom was a public figure or public

official for the purposes of addressing defamation, (2) that the McBee Town Council was a legislative body for the purposes of applying the absolute privilege, (3) that Odom had not demonstrated by clear and convincing evidence that Campolong acted with actual malice, based on Odom's own inability to articulate in his deposition what proof existed of actual malice, (4) that statements made by Campolong to Bolton before and after Town Council meetings were absolutely privileged because of "their proximity in time to the actual [Town Council] meetings" and because they were "seemingly in furtherance of a matter relevant to the council", (5) that statements made by Campolong to Bolton and her sister were not made with actual malice because the Circuit Court could not discern who made the statements and because the statements were inactionable opinion, and (6) that the civil conspiracy claim was barred by the statute of limitations because South Carolina courts have not recognized "broad and general applicability of continuous accrual". (R. pp. 1-21).² The Circuit Court's Order did not address statements made to another witness, Town Council member Stephens, it did not specifically address what legislative function the out-of-session statements served, and it did not address the totality of the evidence introduced by Odom through undersigned counsel to demonstrate actual malice.

² Odom does not dispute that the McBee Town Council is a legislative body for the purposes of the absolute privilege or that he is a public official subject to the constitutional actual malice standard for the purposes of his defamation action. The Town of McBee is a mayor-council form of government with Campolong presiding and having a vote at Town Council meetings. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 5-9-20 & 5-9-30.

On February 14, 2023, Odom filed a Motion for Reconsideration, contending that (1) the Order failed to account for all of the evidence in the entire record in determining whether Odom had produced sufficient evidence of actual malice, and improperly focused on Odom's personal knowledge instead of evidence demonstrating Campolong's subjective belief in the truth of the defamatory statements, (2) that the Order did not account for statements made to Town Council member Stephens outside of Town Council meetings and sessions, (3) that statements of opinion are actionable if they imply undisclosed facts that are capable of being proven true or false, (4) that Campolong had produced no evidence showing that the defamatory statements were made in furtherance of any legitimate legislative purpose of the McBee Town Council, (5) that the defamatory statements, regardless of whether they were encompassed in a Town of McBee lawsuit against Alligator, were only incidentally related to the Town Council's legislative functions and not part of the legislative process itself, and (6) that the doctrine of continuous accrual would apply to the civil conspiracy claim and even if it did not, the claim did not accrue until 2016 when Campolong and McLeod began publishing defamatory statements concerning Odom. (R. pp. 1025-40).

Campolong filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Odom's Motion for Reconsideration on April 6, 2023, making many of the same arguments that had previously been made to support the Order's findings on absolute privilege, actual malice, and the statute of limitations. (R. pp. 1177-1211). Odom's Motion for Reconsideration was heard by the Circuit Court on April 19, 2023. (R. pp. 65-105). On

June 13, 2023, the Circuit Court denied Odom’s Motion in a Form 4 Order. (R. pp. 22-24). This Appeal followed on June 16, 2023. (R. pp. 1248-50).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, which provides that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact” *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 524, 787 S.E.2d 485, 489 (2016). “Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000) (emphasis added). Summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should be cautiously granted. *BPS, Inc. v. Worthy*, 362 S.C. 319, 326, 608 S.E.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 2005). “In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 563, 633 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2006). Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the non-moving party must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991).

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court’s February 9, 2023 Order erroneously finds that the allegedly defamatory statements made by Campolong concerning Odom and the

tobacco settlement fund grant were either protected by the absolute legislative privilege or were not supported by clear and convincing evidence of actual malice, despite there being no direct evidence in the record indicating that the statements were made in conversations concerning legislative duties or functions and there being ample evidence in the record, when viewed in the light most favorable to Odom, supporting a reasonable inference that Campolong had a high degree of awareness of the probable falsity of his statements. Further, the Order erroneously finds that under South Carolina law, a plaintiff is barred by the statute of limitations from bringing a civil conspiracy cause of action for injuries inflicted by a defendant in the three-years preceding the commencement of the action if some evidence of the conspiracy originated at a more distant point in the past. For the following reasons, the Court should reverse the Circuit Court's Orders granting summary judgment and denying Odom's Motion for Reconsideration.

I. Statement of Facts.

The conduct giving rise to this Appeal is part of ongoing discontent between the parties that began over twenty years ago and has given rise to numerous lawsuits and appeals. Glenn Odom served as Mayor of the Town of McBee from 2000 to 2002. (R. p. 343, lines 6-7). During that time, the Lynches River, which was the water supply for the nearby Town of Jefferson, had gone dry as a result of a drought. (R. p. 393, lines 19-21; R. p. 545). Jefferson needed water for its approximately 200 families and to supply a defunct industrial facility in the hopes that it would assist in attracting a new buyer, which could provide jobs for 500 Chesterfield County citizens.

(R. p. 546; R. p. 377, lines 4-5). The Mayor of Jefferson contacted Odom and Charlie Gray, who operates Chesterfield County Rural Water Company (“CCRWC”), in an effort to procure water for the Town. (R. p. 393, line 21-p.394, line 1; R. p. 374, lines 17-20).

CCRWC serviced the Town of Jefferson and purchased its water from Alligator Rural Water & Sewer Co., a non-profit entity associated with Odom that has provided water and sewer services to a majority of Chesterfield County since 1987.³ (R. p. 288). The United States Department of Agriculture’s Rural Utilities Service had funded a 10-inch water line for CCRWC to provide water to Jefferson, but the line needed \$850,000.00 to upsize it to 16 inches, which was necessary to accommodate Jefferson’s water needs. (R. p. 545). Odom, Gray, and the Mayor of Jefferson, understanding that this would be a project that would benefit the entire County, then met with Senator Donald Holland and later with Governor Jim Hodges’ Chief of Staff to formulate a plan to raise the necessary funds. (R. p. 373, lines 19-24; R. p. 394, lines 7-10). Senator Holland contacted Charles S. Way, the South Carolina Secretary of Commerce, to see if the project would qualify for a grant from the Tobacco Settlement Revenue Management Authority Act Water and Wastewater Infrastructure Fund.⁴ (R. pp. 288, 545).

The culmination of these discussions was a decision that the Town of McBee would apply for a tobacco settlement fund grant. (R. p. 376, line 24-p. 377, line 3; R.

³ Odom has at various times throughout its existence served as a board member or general manager of Alligator.

⁴ See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 11-49-10 *et seq.* & 13-1-45.

p. 547). CCRWC as a non-profit corporation could not apply for the grant, but the Town of McBee did qualify to apply. (R. p. 288). The Town of McBee was to act as the project sponsor and a pass-through for the grant, with CCRWC building and maintaining the supply line. (R. p. 545; R. p. 396, line 2-p. 397, line 6). Alligator was designated to supply the water that would be provided to the Town of Jefferson. (R. p. 545).

On May 9, 2001, the South Carolina Secretary of Commerce, Charles S. Way, Jr., wrote a letter to Odom stating that the grant had been awarded and that it was to be used by CCRWC for the construction of water improvements and infrastructure in an area of the county north of the Town of McBee, continuing to Jefferson. (R. p. 548).⁵ The grant was approved by the Town Council of McBee at public special council meetings on May 9 and May 16, 2001 without opposition. (R. pp. 549-50; R. p. 379, lines 6-21). The minutes reflect that there would be no expense to the Town of McBee and that the grant funds would be used to upgrade the water main to 16 inches. (R. pp. 288, 549).⁶ On February 7, 2002, William O. Spencer, Jr., Town Attorney for McBee, sent a letter to Secretary Way setting forth his opinion that the Town of McBee was qualified to receive the proceeds of the grant for the purposes outlined in the application. (R. pp. 551-52).

⁵ In his deposition, Campolong admitted to having knowledge of the contents of this letter, which sets forth that the tobacco settlement grant had a legitimate purpose. (R. p. 578, lines 18-23).

⁶ The minutes erroneously reflect that Alligator was to receive the grant money, when in reality the Town of McBee conveyed the funds to CCRWC, who in turn constructed the water main to Jefferson as proposed in the grant application. (R. p. 288).

Odom resigned as Mayor and took an appointment as Chesterfield County Magistrate in August of 2002 and served in this position until August of 2006. (R. p. 344, lines 7-12). Campolong was elected Mayor of the Town of McBee in 2008 and served as Mayor until February of 2023. (R. p. 108). One year later, in 2009, Odom and Campolong were at odds over a proposed sewage treatment facility that would be located in McBee. (R. pp. 553-58; R. p. 614, line 12-p. 615, line 8).

Alligator and Odom, who was now general manager of the utility, sought to build the treatment facility in order to facilitate industry interest, including a Nestle bottled water plant, that could have created jobs in rural Chesterfield County. Campolong publicly opposed the project and believed it would harm the Town's aquifer. Subsequently, Odom and Alligator brought an eminent domain action against a business entity belonging to Campolong, J.B.C. Limited Partnership, for a water line easement and sewer line easement across Campolong's family property. (R. p. 651, line 23-p. 653, line 19). Campolong sought payment for the easement through an action filed against Alligator. (R. p. 653, lines 21-24). After this series of events, Patricia Wise, Campolong's daughter, began "reviewing documents" concerning Odom and Alligator. (R. p. 651, lines 19-22).

On July 9, 2012 Campolong, along with McLeod and three other Town Council members, sent a letter to W. Allen Myrick, Jr., an Assistant Attorney General with the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, requesting an investigation into Odom. (R. pp. 817-19). In the letter, McLeod and Campolong alleged that the Town of McBee had been harmed by Odom, and that he had engaged in illegal activities. Specifically:

(1) the letter implies that Odom stole or misappropriated \$850,000 from the tobacco settlement fund grant, (2) that he wrongfully accepted \$2000 while serving as Magistrate to “take care of” a traffic fine, and (3) the letter implies that Odom had improperly received or misappropriated millions of dollars from Alligator that had been granted by the USDA for certain projects.

The letter also generally alleges that “millions” of McBee’s tax dollars had been spent, presumably by Odom, with no benefit to the Town. The letter concludes by stating that Wise had conducted an investigation into the conduct alleged in the letter. Wise, on the other hand, has stated that she did not “substantially” investigate Odom, and that she had only looked at “certain facts.” (R. p. 651, lines 6-10; R. p. 654, lines 14-24). Campolong has stated that he did not authorize Wise to conduct an investigation. (R. p. 581, line 3-p. 582, line 2).

Wise did have discussions with McLeod and met with him and Campolong to review the letter prior to publishing it. (R. p. 657, lines 10-19). According to Wise, this was not the first letter that had been written to the Attorney General alleging that Odom had engaged in illicit or inappropriate conduct: in 2009, while Campolong was Mayor and McLeod a Town Council member, another letter was written to the Attorney General suggesting that Odom was responsible for certain Town of McBee funds that were missing. (R. p. 660 line 4-p. 663, line 23; R. p. 774, lines 10-12). The 2012 letter initiated a SLED investigation into Odom. (R. p. 371, lines 10-16).

On January 23, 2013, William B. Rogers, Jr., Solicitor for the Fourth Judicial Circuit, wrote to Senior Special Agent Michael Anderson, who was conducting the

investigation into Odom's conduct, informing him that there was no evidence in the Investigative File demonstrating violations of criminal laws and that the case did not warrant prosecution. (R. p. 820). McLeod admitted that he learned that the SLED investigation found no wrongdoing and that it was told to him, although he claimed not to remember who informed him. (R. p. 806, lines 18-24). Curiously, Campolong claimed that he was never told that Odom was cleared of the accusations, and that he never bothered to inquire as to the results of the investigation, despite the fact that he participated in the investigation of Odom, a political opponent, along with Wise and Town Attorney Everett Kendall, and met with SLED on at least one occasion. (R. p. 589, line 23-p. 591, line 19).

According to Campolong, as of the date of his deposition in 2019, he assumed that the investigation was still open, seven years later. (R. p. 610, lines 11-20). However, testimony provided by Wise indicates that Campolong did at some point receive the 2013 letter exonerating Odom, although she does not specify when this occurred. (R. p. 752, lines 10-14). Campolong has testified that he does not actually have any personal knowledge of anything illegal that Odom has done with regards to the grant. (R. p. 632, lines 22-24).

In 2015, Campolong as Mayor verified a Complaint filed by the Town of McBee against Alligator alleging that it was curtailing or limiting the Town of McBee's ability to supply water to customers including a business that provided 70% of the Town's water system revenue.⁷ In 2016, Campolong as Mayor verified an Amended

⁷ *Town of McBee v. Alligator Rural Water & Sewer Co., Inc. et al*, Civil Action No. 2015-CP-13-00379.

Complaint adding Odom individually as a defendant and claiming that he had “diverted” a grant given to the Town to Alligator. (R. pp. 213, 225). The same year, Odom ran for Mayor against Campolong.⁸ (R. pp. 109). A campaign flyer paid for by Campolong falsely asserted that Odom used the \$850,000 grant to build a water line belonging to Alligator. (R. p. 821).

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