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

*Q. So he took that money?*

*A. Somebody got it. The Town didn't get it.*

(R. pp. 118-119).

\*\*\*

*A. If the money was deposited in the bank to the Town of McBee and then he takes it out and puts it to Alligator Water and then moves it to Chesterfield, now, tell me, something ain't right about that. It would not have been - come to the Town of McBee if it didn't belong to the Town of McBee. You can't make me believe that.*

*Q. Have you seen the paperwork whereby the money was under a grant and it was supposed to go to-for the water-for Chesterfield Water Company?*

*A. Was supposed to go where?*

*Q. It was only the Town of McBee because they had to make it to someone, they made it to the Town of McBee. You're not aware of that and it was all the time designated as-*

*A. No, no. Why did the other town around get it and then their money not transfer to there?*

*Q. Well, I can't answer that –*

*A. Okay then, Then it's not.*

(R. p. 949, lines 11-25, p. 950, lines 1-7)

\*\*\*

*Q. In other words, you don't think that if the - if the water district got a grant to be passed through McBee, that the fact that McBee passes it through to where it was intended you'd think something was wrong with that?*

*A. No. I am saying was Alligator's name or anything on that check that was sent to McBee - that was deposited in the bank for the Town of McBee, was it? If not, the check belongs to the Town of McBee.*

(R. p. 960, lines 11-25, p. 950, lines 7-16)

\*\*\*

*Q: And then you brought what, a Town Council meeting of May 9, 2001; is that right.*

*A. See, why I brought that was this. When they had the Town Meeting about the \$850,000, Glenn [Odom] said that Alligator Rural Water had received a grant for \$850,000 and he wanted to run it through the Town with no charges to the Town. That's not right. If the check was made out to the Town of McBee - and I was at the Town meeting that night. And I asked Glenn, I said, if it's your money why was the check made out to the Town of McBee? He said, well, it had to go through a municipality. That's why I brought that right there.*

(R. p. 152, lines 5-17)

\*\*\*

*Q. What did you hear from Glenn?*

*A. I guess he was trying to feel me out when he found out about the tobacco money coming. I had no idea what it was or anything, but he came to me probably after a Lions Club meeting and said, "You know Cheraw is getting \$3,500,000, but they've got a project and they can get that money. And Chesterfield is getting two-and-a-half million dollars. They've got a project, and they'll get that money." And he went on to Pageland. They was getting a million and a half And then he got down to McBee. "McBee can get \$868,000." That's verbatim, and you know it.*

*Q. That McBee can get that for what?*

*A. But they didn't have a project. McBee did not have a project. And him mayor. You knew you tell me now.*

*Q. What do you mean they did not have a project?*

*A. He was insinuating that McBee didn't have a project but Alligator Water did, and he was going to have it -- he was going to write a request to get the money for Alligator Water. And if he can produce that request which he wrote to the government to get that money, I'll believe anything he says, but until then, what I know about him, I know what I know ....*

(R. p. 138, lines 10-25; p. 139, lines 1-9).

*I said that the only way that Alligator or the rural water could get the money would be go through the town and that they used the town 's name to get the money and everybody used it and two and a half years later we go and borrow \$1.5 million to redo our system when we could have used \$850,000 to revamp our own water instead of going out of the county. So McBee applied for the grant, but didn't get to use the money and that was during the campaigning of the Mayor Odom for mayor.*

(R. p. 136, lines 9-18)

Some McBee residents believe that Odom misled them about his position with Alligator while he was Mayor in 2001. The Department of Commerce awarded the \$850,000 grant to McBee in May 2001 while Odom was Mayor. (R. p. 2). In his deposition, Odom testified that he was not Alligator's general manager while he was Mayor because he was working for Sonoco in Hartsville, SC. (R. p. 349, lines 5-18; p. 354, lines 14-20; p. 388, lines 9-11). Odom testified that he left Sonoco in 2003 and *then* became Alligator's general manager. (R. p. 349, lines 5-18; p. 354, lines 14-20).<sup>17</sup> In so testifying, Odom hoped to satisfy his doubters, and in effect swear to them, that he was not Alligator's general manager *and* Mayor when the grant was issued in 2001.

Discovery in the present lawsuit revealed that Odom's deposition testimony was false, and it substantiated what some McBee residents believed about Odom back in 2001. The Department of Commerce produced a letter, dated April 16, 2001, that Odom wrote to the Department. (R. p. 290). Odom

---

<sup>17</sup> In his Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant Campolong's Motion for Summary Judgment, Odom states that he was the general manager from 2003 to 2020 (R. p. 293). Odom testified in his deposition that he had no role with Alligator when he and Town Council approved the grant in May 2001. (R. p. 388, lines 9-11). His letter to the Department of Commerce proves these statements are false.

wrote the letter on Alligator's letterhead and signed it *as* the general manager of Alligator. The letter reveals two things about Odom that Campolong and McBee residents have believed about him for years. First, the letter confirmed that *Mayor* Odom was Alligator's general manager at the time he solicited the grant in 2001. Second, the letter confirmed that Odom was in fact acting on behalf of Alligator and not McBee.

Odom did something else in 2001 that would make some McBee residents angry still in 2008, the year Campolong was first elected Mayor, and still in 2016, when Odom ran for Mayor again and lost. Odom told residents that McBee did not have a project for the \$850,000 grant, and therefore it was okay to use the proceeds for the Town of Jefferson. (R. p. 138, lines 10-25). Of note, Odom was unable to explain in his deposition why Jefferson itself did not apply for the grant instead of McBee. (R. p. 398, lines 11-25). As a municipality, Jefferson was authorized to do so, and McBee could then do the same for a project in McBee. As to McBee, Odom stated, "McBee had no project to ask for." (R. p. 399, lines 1-3). However, this was not true. Odom admitted in his deposition that there were projects in McBee in 2001/2002 that the grant would benefit, including to repair the filters for the Town wells in order to open the wells and supply water. (R. p. 401, lines 13-25). Odom, of course, had other ideas for the money, which was for Alligator Rural Water to have it. What did Odom and Alligator stand to gain from the grant? Since the water line came into operation in 2002, Alligator has sold and continues to sell the water running through it, approximately 30 million gallons a month, to businesses and residents in Jefferson. (R. p. 397, lines 10-24); (R. p. 399, lines 14-25). McBee has not received any of the profits for *its* grant. (R. p. 578, lines L 1-6)(*"McBee has never been included in the alliance or any fees or anything"*).

**C. Odom abandoned the grounds in paragraph 6 of his Complaint concerning the alleged defamation for the punctured pipe by not making an argument; the allegations are not otherwise actionable.**

Odom mentions the allegations in paragraph 6 of his Complaint. (Final Brief, p. 14). Odom does not otherwise make an argument about this alleged defamation, so he should be deemed to have abandoned

this ground for defamation. *First Savings Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (1994) (issues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal). Out of an abundance of caution, Campolong will address the allegations concerning the punctured pipe.

First, Odom states, “Bolton also stated that either Campolong or McLeod told her either before or after council sessions that Odom had damaged water pipes in the town”. (Final Brief, p. 14). In that regard, in response to questions from Odom’s counsel, Bolton testified that she did not remember whether Campolong or McLeod said something about the pipe: “*Q. But you can’t recall which? A. One which one, no I cannot.*” (R. p. 831, lines 16-25). Further, in response to questions from Campolong’s counsel, Bolton testified that she heard something about the pipe during executive sessions only. (R. p. 844, lines 17-25). Stephens testified that he heard about damage to the pipe during executive sessions only. (R. p. 982, lines 12-25; p. 983 lines 1-6). As Campolong has argued, the legislative absolute privilege applies to what was said in executive sessions – particularly a matter of public concern. *Supra*. Second, McBee’s Town Council members and Mayor have an interest in discussing the integrity of its water system and acts related to the system’s disruption, particularly as this disruption was under scrutiny in the *Town of McBee v. Alligator Rural Water* lawsuit and being defended in *A.O. Smith v. Town of McBee*. Statements concerning matters of public concern are protected by the First Amendment. *Snyder v. Phelps*, 562 U.S. 443, 451-52, 131 S. Ct. 1207, 1215. Third, McBee’s Amended Complaint in the *Town of McBee v. Alligator Rural Water* included the punctured water pipe allegation. (R. p. 213, ¶¶ 32, 33, p. 217, ¶ 60). Pleadings, affidavits and other materials generated in judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged. *Pond Place Partners Inc. v. Poole*, 351 S.C. at 24, 567 S.E.2d at 893. Finally, Odom abandoned his libel claims.

**D. South Carolina Supreme Court decisions demonstrate in practice that there is a high burden of proof for constitutional actual malice.**

South Carolina Supreme Court decisions demonstrate in practice that the clear and convincing evidence burden of proof is high in constitutional actual malice lawsuits. In addressing his burden, Odom cites to *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 629 S.E.2d 653 for an example in which

the Supreme Court found sufficient clear and convincing evidence to prove actual malice. (Brief, pp. 21-22). Campolong submits that *Erickson* is distinguishable. It is distinguishable because *Erickson* involved a private figure and not a public official or figure. *Erickson*, 368 S.C. at 471, 475, 629 S.E.2d at 668-669. The Supreme Court in *Erickson* did not have to apply the *New York Times* standard or weigh First Amendment issues for an individual public official or figure. *Erickson*, 368 S.C. at 476, 629 S.E.2d at 668 - 670 (applying preponderance of the evidence and negligence charge by consent of the parties). The clear and convincing standard in *Erickson* was relevant because of the punitive damages claim against a media defendant. *Erickson*, 368 S.C. at 476, 629 S.E.2d at 668-670. The Supreme Court affirmed the jury's finding of actual malice and remanded the case for the jury to consider the issue of punitive damages. *Erickson*, 368 S.C. at 444, 478, 629 S.E.2d 653, 671.

The decisions in *Elder v. Gaffney Ledger*, 341 S.C. 108, 533 S.E.2d 899, *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 567 S.E.2d 857 (2002); *Peeler v. Spartan Radiocasting, Inc.*, 324 S.C. 261, 478 S.E.2d 282 (1996) and *George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 440, 548 S.E.2d 868 are more closely on point for this appeal. *Elder*, *Fleming*, *Peeler* and *George* did involve public officials or public figures, and the Supreme Court did address the clear and convincing burden for constitutional actual malice suits in each appeal. In each appeal, the Supreme Court found there was not clear and convincing evidence of constitutional actual malice. *Peeler v. Spartan Radiocasting, Inc.*, 324 S.C. at 267, 478 S.E.2d at 285 (reversing a jury verdict that found constitutional actual malice); *Elder v. Gaffney Ledger*, 341 S.C. at 112, 533 S.E.2d at 901 (reversing a jury verdict that found constitutional actual malice); *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. at 497, 567 S.E.2d at 862 (“We hold the Court of Appeals erred in finding there was ‘clear and convincing’ evidence in the record to support Fleming's claim that Rose acted with actual malice.... and reinstate the trial court’s grant of summary judgment.”); *George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 440, 548 S.E.2d 868 (affirming summary judgment in favor of one candidate against another - finding in part a lack of clear and convincing evidence of constitutional actual malice).

**E. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the alleged statement made to Bolton and her sister fails to rise to the level of actual malice or is insufficient to support a claim of defamation of a public figure.**

The Circuit Court ruled that an alleged statement made to Bolton and her sister, that Odom “messed up” or “ruined” McBee, was not actionable. (R. p. 16).<sup>18</sup> The Circuit Court stated, “this statement fails to rise to the level of actual malice”, and “[e]xamining the full testimony, the Court finds that this statement is insufficient to support a claim of defamation of a public figure.” (R. p. 16).<sup>19</sup> Odom argues that the Circuit Court erred in this ruling. (Final Brief, pp. 29-31). As an initial conclusion, the Circuit Court found the deposition testimony to be unclear as to the identity of the speaker, and this was a substantial factor to consider in assessing whether Odom met his burden of proof. (R. p. 16). In that regard, Odom could have deposed Bolton’s sister to seek clarification, more about the conversation, or something clearer and more convincing – if the discovery exists. He did not.

Whether a communication is reasonably capable of conveying a defamatory meaning, or the nature of the speech, is a question of law for the trial court to determine. *Snyder v. Phelps*, 580 F.3d 206, 220 (4th Cir. 2009), *aff’d*, 562 U.S. 443, 131 S. Ct. 1207, 179 L. Ed. 2d 172 (2011). The United States Supreme Court has “declined to adopt an artificial dichotomy between ‘opinion’ and ‘fact,’ and it specifically eschewed the multifactor tests that several lower courts (including [the Fourth Circuit]) had utilized to categorize speech.” *Snyder*, 580 F.3d at 219. As the Supreme Court explained in *Mikovich*, the “dispositive

---

<sup>18</sup> Bolton testified in her deposition as follows about what Campolong allegedly said in front of Bolton and her sister: “**Q.** *What did he say?* **A.** *Well, Mr. Odom, how he messed this town up. He’s ruined it. Q. Say that again. A. How Mr. Odom has ruined the town.*” (R. p. 842, lines 23-25; p. 843, lines 1-3).

<sup>19</sup> The Circuit Court looked beyond the nature of the speech or whether the words were false or defamatory. As evident in its ruling, the Circuit Court analyzed the statement for whether it constituted clear and convincing evidence of constitutional actual malice.

question” is whether a factfinder might conclude that statements could be proven true or false. *Id.* (citing *Milkovich v. Lorain J. Co.*, 497 U.S. 1, 21, 110 S. Ct. 2695, 2707, 111 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1990)). Courts are therefore obligated “to assess how an objective, reasonable reader would understand a challenged statement by focusing on the plain language of the statement and the context and general tenor of its message.” *Id.*

There are two subcategories of constitutionally protected speech. The first one involves “statements on matters of public concern that fail to contain a ‘provably false factual connotation.’” *Snyder*, 580 F.3d at 219. (citing *Milkovich*). The second one involves “rhetorical statements employing ‘loose, figurative, or hyperbolic language’[,] [which] are entitled to First Amendment protection to ensure that ‘public debate will not suffer for lack of ‘imaginative expression’ or the ‘rhetorical hyperbole’ which has traditionally added much to the discourse of our Nation.’” *Snyder*, 580 F.3d at 220 (citing *Milkovich*). Calling a worker who crossed a picket line a “traitor” or describing a negotiating position as “blackmail” are not actionable statements and, in the latter case, cannot be said to convey commission of an actual crime. *Snyder*, 580 F.3d at 220 (citing *Letter Carriers v. Austin*, 418 U.S. 264, 284–86, 94, S.Ct. 2770, 41 L.Ed.2d 745 (1974); *Greenbelt Coop. Publ'g Ass'n v. Bresler*, 398 U.S. 6, 13–14, 90 S.Ct. 1537, 26 L.Ed.2d 6 (1970). Campolong’s alleged statement, that Odom “messed up” or “ruined” McBee, is no more than “loose, figurative, or hyperbolic language” concerning a public official or public figure and a matter of public interest that is not actionable. Also, the language is not clear and convincing evidence that Campolong spoke with constitutional actual malice.

## **II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE CIVIL CONSPIRACY CAUSE OF ACTION WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.**

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